1954

State Tax Commission of Utah v. Sherman J. Preece : Plaintiff's Brief in Support of Extraordinary Writ

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The First Special Session of the 1953 Utah State Legislature passed House Bill No. 34, which amended titles 59-18-4 and 59-18-10, Utah Code Annotated, (1953) and, *inter alia*, raised the excise tax on cigarettes and allocated the revenue derived therefrom to the Uniform School Fund. It is the alleged unconstitutionality of this law which gives rise to the filing of Plaintiff's Petition for Writ of Mandamus.

House Bill No. 34 was introduced by Representative Wayne C. Durham of Salt Lake County and after debate

and amendment the bill passed both houses and was sent to the Honorable J. Bracken Lee, Governor, on December 17, 1953, for his signature. On December 19, 1953, Governor Lee vetoed House Bill No. 34. On the same day (December 19) the House of Representatives and the Senate overrode the Governor's veto by a vote in excess of the requisite two-thirds of each body. On December 19, 1953, the President of the Senate, the Speaker of the House and the Clerks of both houses transmitted the said bill to Secretary of State, Lamont F. Toronto, and it thereupon became a valid and duly-enacted statute of this state.

In his veto message, and subsequent press release, the Honorable J. Bracken Lee publicly expressed his opinion that the law, as enacted, was in excess of the powers of the special session, and hence, was unconstitutional. On the 21st day of December, 1953, Governor Lee requested an opinion on the legality of the statute from Attorney General E. R. Callister, Jr.

The State Tax Commission of the State of Utah is charged with the responsibility of collecting all taxes and enforcing all tax laws of the state. In 1953 the State Tax Commission distributed some 13,675,200 cigarette excise stamps. This was an average monthly number in excess of 1,000,000. The effective date of House Bill 34 is sixty days after adjournment of the session, or February 19, 1954. Thus, the State Tax Commission deemed it advisable to requisition at once at least one month's supply of the new cigarette excise stamps in the 4¢ denomination.

On December 29, 1953 the Commission Chairman, Patrick Healy, Jr., for the Utah State Tax Commission

filed with and delivered to the Defendant, Sherman J. Preece, State Auditor, two requisitions for 1,000,000 stamps of the new 4¢ denomination. On this date the said Defendant, Sherman J. Preece, wilfully refused to comply with the Plaintiff's requisitions.

ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITY

I

IN HIS CALL, CONVENING A SPECIAL SESSION OF THE UTAH STATE LEGISLATURE PURSUANT TO ARTICLE VII, SECTION 4, OF THE UTAH CONSTITUTION AND IN HIS SUBSEQUENT COMMUNICATIONS TO THE LEGISLATURE, THE GOVERNOR PLACED ON THE AGENDA THE GENERAL SUBJECT OF FINANCE AND TAXATION.

A. The Governor in His Several Communications to the Legislature *Expressly* Authorized and Included Within the Scope of the First Special Session of the 1953 Legislature the Contents and Substance of House Bill No. 34.

1. The Governor Opened the Special Session to the General Subject of Taxation and School Finance and, thus, Authorized the Cigarette Tax Increase.

(a) Once a general subject area is presented to a special session by the executive, the legislature is thereafter empowered to pass any legislation falling within the general subject or subjects enumerated.

In the case of *Timmer v. Talbot, et al.*, 13 Fd. Supp. 666 (1935), a special session was called to deal with past

debts of the State. *Held*, any act governing future indebtedness was constitutional. The Federal Court said at page 666, citing with approval, *Smith v. Curran*:

“While the legislature must confine itself to the matters submitted, it need not follow the views of the governor or legislate in any particular way. Within the special business or designated subjects submitted, the legislature cannot be restricted or dictated to by the governor,” and “the reasonable deduction from the authorities, however, is that, while the governor may control the subject matter of legislation to be enacted at the special session, he may not restrict boundaries within the natural range of that subject or dictate methods of dealing with it or limit the class of those to be benefited.” (Emphasis added).

In the case of *Richmond, et al. v. Lay*, 87 S. W. 2d 134 (1935) a special session was called to “enact such measures as will provide sufficient revenue to carry on all proper functions of the state government including common schools.” *Held*, a statute authorizing extension of teacher’s certificates was properly within the call. The rationale of this case was that the mention of “common schools” opened to the special session such related areas as teacher’s certificates.

In the case of *Smith v. Curran*, 268 Mich. 366, 256 N.W. 453 (1934), the Michigan Court quoted with approval (at page 372) from *State ex rel. National Conservation Exposition Company v. Woolen*, 128 Tenn. 456, 161 S.W. 1006,

“* * * The governor cannot restrict the legislature to the consideration of a particular bill. Within the subject submitted the legislature has freedom

of action.” (Emphasis added).

In the case of *Commonwealth v. Liveright*, 308 Pa. 35, 161 A. 697 (1932) the Pennsylvania Court said:

“While the legislature must confine itself to matters submitted in the call of the special session, it need not follow the views of the governor or legislature in any particular manner * * *. The legislature is not bound in manner, method or means of accomplishment of the object stated in the subject.

(Emphasis added).

The session was called to provide for “unemployed.” Held, an act providing a general welfare act was upheld. The rationale: All subjects “related” to those in the call are expressly authorized.

In the interesting old (1886) case of *Baldwin v. State*, 21 Tex. App. 591; 3 S.W. 109, the governor of Texas called a special session pursuant to a constitutional provision similar to our own “to reduce taxes.” Held, statutes enacted by the Special Session increasing taxes were authorized as being within the call.

These cases are, we feel, representative of the holdings of many state courts that once a general subject is presented to a Special session, the legislature has power to choose its own method and course of dealing with the problem presented.

(b) The Governor’s language clearly opens to the Legislature the subject of finance and revenue.

Exhibit F, p. 7: “The *financing proposal* I shall make offers to school districts the same state-sup-

ported program as recommended by the Legislative Council with ample leeway over and above that.”

Exhibit F, p. 10: “The foregoing constitute my recommendations for the retirement system and *the financing of our schools.*”

Exhibit F, p. 6: “I am not here to propose new or higher taxes to finance the school program, but I *do intend to propose changes in our present school financing law * * *.*”

Exhibit F, p. 10: “* * * The only way the increased levy on property can be postponed or avoided is by *providing more money to the Uniform School Fund from other sources.*” (Emphasis added).

(1) If it is conceded, *arguendo*, that the Governor’s language is ambiguous, it nevertheless provides more than sufficient basis for applying the rule of construction quoted *infra*, (Plaintiff’s Pt. III) (Sutherland, Statutory Construction, (3rd Ed.) Vol. 1, Chap. 5, Section 507, Page 118), that *any reasonable doubt* must be resolved in favor of the constitutionality of the act.

(2) The expression of the Governor’s intent not to proposed “new or higher” taxes does not proscribe the Legislature in its discretion, once the Governor has opened the subject of taxation to their consideration. *Loiza Sugar Co. v. Puerto Rico*, 57 Fd. 2d 705; *Timmer v. Talbot et al*, 13 Fd. Supp. 666 at 668.

B. The Governor Expressly Conceded that his Proposals Might Necessitate an Increase in the Property Tax Levy and by Proposing One Tax the General Subject of Taxation was thus Presented to the Legislative Session.

The Governor in his several communications made general reference to the recommendations contained in the report of the Public School Survey Commission and to the recommendations of the Legislative Council. The Public School Survey Commission was to have dealt with "taxation and permanent financing of public education including the adequacy of the present tax base." However, the Commission acknowledged, and the Governor recognized, that the Commission had not undertaken a "detailed study" of tax sources to help provide for financing the state-supported minimum program and as the Governor noted "this failure was serious for it meant that the property tax would have to bear the brunt of the recommended increase in funds." The Governor conceded that under the present act "any increase in the minimum school program would be borne by a state levy on real property exclusively." (See Exhibit B, p. 1).

It seems clear from a general reading of the Governor's original address that his main concern was that the recommendations of the Public School Survey Commission and the Legislative Council be considered "as a whole" for he stated: "The main point is that *all of the major recommendations, not just those providing more money*, should be adopted if the objective of a better school system is to be reached." (See Exhibit B, p. 5). (Emphasis added).

He also stated in the same message "it has seemed to

me, therefore, that it would be proper to devote first attention to the seemingly forgotten items of the survey before *getting involved in finance*. Consequently, I am not putting *school financing or related matters*, including teacher's retirement, on the agenda at this time. Later in the session I shall ask your indulgence to permit me to deliver a special message to you on these subjects."

On December 3, 1953, the Governor sent a communication to the Senate and to the House stating that he would deliver a personal message to the Legislature on the subject of *Teacher Retirement and School Finance* on December 4th. (See Exhibit D). Pursuant to these communications the Governor delivered a message to a Joint Session of the Legislature on December 4, 1953. In it he placed the following items on the agenda for consideration of the Legislature:

1-F. *Current School Financing*. The purpose of this subject matter was to eliminate the inconsistency of basing the current year costs on the previous year's enrollment in a given school in the state system. The Legislative Council staff calculated the cost of this item to be an additional \$912,000. (See Exhibit 5, p. 7).

2-F and 3-F. *Teacher's Retirement*. This agenda item included: (1) The consideration of increased cost to the state to provide additional funds for teacher's retirement (the act passed by the Legislature increased the cost to the state from the uniform school fund in the sum of \$1,474,000—see Exhibit K) and, (2) provision for retiring a debt presently equaling 13.6 million. (See Governor's recommendation, Exhibit F, page 7).

4-F. *Proposed Increased Local Levy*.

5-F. *Local Taxing Leeway.*

6-F. *Minimum School Program.* This subject matter was to review the present minimum school program to see if the same was adequate under the changed conditions arising since the enactment of the prior law in 1947. Under the programs presented by either the Governor or the Legislative Council additional revenue was a must.

The Governor recognized that increasing the minimum school program under the present act would result in a proportionate increase in ad valorem property taxes, as he stated expressly “* * * the only way the increased levy on property can be postponed or avoided is by *providing more money in the uniform school fund from other sources.*” (See Exhibit 4, p. 10).

(1) Clearly, the *raison d’etre* of our constitutional provision, Article VII, Section 4, is that of giving the interested public notice of proposed legislation in order to allow an expression of their will in the matter. *State v. Scott*, 105 Utah at page 31, 140 Pac. 2d at page 921, and *Sutherland*, Sec. 508, p. 120:

“* * * the test [of the constitutionality of an act of a special session] is whether or not the public was reasonably put on notice that legislation of the sort enacted would be considered.”

There can be no question that the Governor recognized that the Special Session was seeking new tax fields and was considering revenue measures, (See Exhibit 1, page 2) and this Court may take judicial notice of the fact that a very great deal of publicity was given the subject of

revenue and additional taxes for many months prior to the call of this special session. (Title 78-25-1, Utah Code Annotated, (1953)).

C. The Governor Placed on the Agenda the Subjects of Teacher's Retirement and the Minimum School Program and These Subjects required the Consideration of Revenue and Taxation. Therefore Related Implementing Legislation to Promote and Promulgate the Said Subject Matter and Make the Same Effectual by Providing for Increased Revenue From an Increased Cigarette Tax to be Specifically Placed in the Uniform School Fund Must be Deemed to be Included in the Agenda.

(1) The Governor, by necessary implication, may authorize the enactment of related legislation which the legislature in its discretion determines to be appropriate to the implementation of the Governor's proposals. Defendant relies heavily on the case of *Simms v. Weldon*, 165 Ark. 13, 263 S.W. 42. (Def. Brief p. 8). Defendant cites (Def. Brief, p. 10) the later case of *McCarroll v. Clyde Collins Liquor Co.*, 198 Ark. 896, 132 S.W. 2d 19 (1939) from the same jurisdiction, as not having weakened the holding of the *Weldon* case. Plaintiff submits that even a cursory comparison of the two cases reveals that the *McCarroll* case did not *weaken* the earlier holding in the *Simms* case upon which defendant places so much reliance—it *completely overruled* it.

In the *McCarroll* case the Governor of Arkansas called a Special Session of the Legislature to provide for better treatment of tuberculosis. It was held that a liquor license revenue measure was a valid implementation of the Governor's recommendation, inasmuch as the original proposal

for better tuberculosis treatment clearly required additional revenue. (See, also, *Pope v. Oliver*, 196 Ark. 394, 1177 S.W. 2d 1072 from same jurisdiction, and also subsequent to the *Simms* case).

In the case of *State ex rel. Conway v. Versluis*, 58 Ariz. 368, 120 Pac. 2d 410 (1941) the Governor called a Special Session to deal with the problem of disposal of state lands. *Held*, the legislature was impliedly authorized to deal with the disposition of the revenue derived from the sale of such lands. Rationale: the specific subject of the statute need not be mentioned in the call when the general object is announced which required implementation—the latter being left to the discretion of the legislature.

In the case of *Anneberg v. Roberts*, 333 Pa. 203, 2 A. 2d 612 (1938) a Special Session was called to outlaw certain gambling devices. *Held*, legislation creating a committee to study gambling was upheld as “implied” in the Governor’s general call.

In the case of *Devereaux v. City of Brownsville*, C.C. enn, 29 Fed. 742 (1887), a special session was called “to enable taxing districts to compromise old debts.” *Held*, Legislation *repealing* former powers of districts to compromise old debts upheld as impliedly authorized by the Governor’s call.

In the instant case, defendants concede, (Def. Brief, p. 13) as they must, that the total cost of the minimum school program would necessarily be increased by enactment of the proposals submitted by the Governor. (Exhibit F, p. 8). This fact was clearly recognized by Governor Lee but he recommended that the increase be borne

by shifting the burden to the local districts. (Exhibit K).

Since the program as submitted by the Governor admittedly required additional revenue, the questions of source and imposition of additional taxes were thus opened to the Special Session. *McCarroll v. Clyde Collins Liquors*, 1998 Ark. 896, 132 S.W. 2d 19 (1939); *Pope v. Oliver*, 196 Ark. 394, 117 S.W. 2d 1072; *State ex rel Conway v. Versluis*, 58 Ariz. 368, 120 P. 2d 410 (1941); *Anneberg v. Roberts*, 333 Pa. 203, 2 A. 2d 612 (1938); *Devereaux v. City of Brownsville*, C. C. Tenn., 29 Fed. 742 (1887).

It should be borne in mind that the expression of Governor Lee's personal opinion or personal recommendations is suggestive only, and when acting within the scope of the general subjects placed on the agenda (viz., finance and taxation) the legislature is in no wise limited thereby.

Defendant's counsel has suggested that the cost to the state of Utah under the newly-enacted school and teacher retirement programs is less than the cost to the state of the programs repealed by these new acts. However, if we may draw the court's attention to Exhibit K for a moment, we are certain that this point can be readily cleared up. The Uniform School Fund, under the repealed act for the fiscal year 1953-1954, necessitated a contribution by the state in the amount of \$18,784,317. If the provisions of the newly-enacted legislation were applied to the same fiscal year—a year in which the basis for the computation is nearly certain—the cost to the state for support of the Uniform School Program would be \$17,753,412, as set forth in said Exhibit exclusive of the Teacher's Retirement cost. In addition thereto must

be added \$1,474,000 for Teachers retirement — which makes a total state contribution for the said fiscal year in the sum of \$19,227,412. An increase is thus effected in cost to *the state of Utah*, as distinguished from cost to the local districts, of nearly a half-million dollars. We wish also to call the court's attention to the fact that the Research Director of the Utah Education Association has estimated that the cost, rather than being a half-million dollars more to the state, would be nearly one and one-half million dollars more for the said fiscal year. These estimates and facts must surely have been before the legislature as a whole when House Bill 34 was passed over the Governor's veto and it seems more than a coincidence that the \$1,000,000 to be provided by House Bill 34 for the Uniform School Fund closely approximates one-half of the difference between the Legislative Council's estimate and the UEA's estimate of the increased cost to the state of the Uniform School and Teacher's Retirement programs. (See Exhibit K).

II

ANY DOUBT AS TO THE VALIDITY OF HOUSE BILL 34 MUST BE RESOLVED FAVORING THE CONSTITUTIONALITY THEREOF.

This general principle of law that legislation is presumed constitutional is so well established as to be almost axiomatic. Defendant has conceded the general proposition. (Def. Brief, p. 4, note). It is, however, worthy of this Court's attention to discuss its application to Special Sessions. Therefore, the following is respectfully submitted.

Sutherland, in his exhaustive work, devotes an entire

chapter (Chapter 5, Vol. 1, Sutherland on Statutory Construction, (3rd Ed.) to Special Sessions, and he concludes:

“ * * the constitutional provisions [relating to the calling of special sessions] should be strictly construed in favor of the legislative power,”* citing *Devereaux v. Brownsville*, 29 Fed. 742, (C.C. Tenn. 1887), *Timmer v. Talbot*, 13 F. Supp. 666, (W.D. Mich., 1935); *State v. Woolan*, 128 Tenn. 456, 161 S.W. 1006 (1913); *Long v. State*, 58 Tex. Crim. 209, 127 S.W. 208 (1910), *“and a statute enacted during an extraordinary session should be presumed to be constitutional.”* (Citing cases) (Emphasis added).

Even the most cursory examination of the plethora of case material on the construction to be accorded enactments of a special legislative session clearly demonstrates the absence of a prevailing or majority rule. (See cases collected at 82 *Corpus Juris Secundum*, Statutes, Sec. 10, p. 29-31, and particularly footnotes 23 and 26). However divergent the results may appear, plaintiff has been unable to find any substantial authority in conflict with the rule enunciated by Sutherland (quoted *supra*) and phrased well by the Arizona Supreme Court in the 1935 case of *Board of Regents of the University of Arizona v. Sullivan*, 45 Ariz. 245, 42 Pac. 2d. 619 at 622:

“The governor’s call or message need not state the details of the legislation to be considered as such matters are within the discretion of the legislature and beyond the control of the governor except for his power of veto. Where a general object is described, the legislature is free to determine in what manner such object shall be carried into effect.” (Quoted from 59 C.J. 526, Sec. 20) (Em-

phasis added).

In the case of *Smith v. Refunding Board of Arkansas*, (1935), 83 S.W. 2d 76, the Arkansas Legislature was called into special session for the purpose of refunding future obligations. The Court in upholding the act said, at page 80:

“* * * The lawmakers, when convened in extraordinary sessions, may act freely within the call and legislate upon all and any of the subjects specified or upon any part of the subjects; and *every presumption will be made in favor of the regularity of its action.*” (Emphasis added).

In the case of *Loiza Sugar Co. v. People of Puerto Rico*, 57 F. 2d 705, (1932), the Court said at page 706:

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