1954

State Tax Commission of Utah v. Sherman J. Preece : Brief and Memorandum of Defendant in Support of Motion to Dismiss

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE GOVERNOR DID NOT BY EXPRESS LANGUAGE CALL SUCH LEGISLATIVE BUSINESS TO THE ATTENTION OF THE LEGISLATURE AS WOULD PERMIT IMPOSITION OF A TAX ON CIGARETTES.

Art. VII, Sec. 6 of the Utah Constitution provides:

“On extraordinary occasions, the Governor may convene the Legislature by proclamation, in which shall be stated the purpose for which the Legislature is to be convened, and it shall transact no legislative business except that for which it was especially convened, or such other legislative business as the Gov-

ernor may call to its attention while in session. The Legislature, however, may provide for the expenses of the session and other matters incidental thereto. The Governor may also by proclamation convene the Senate in extraordinary session for the transaction of executive business."

This provision has been held to be mandatory (*State v. Pugh*, 31 Ariz. 317, 252 P. 1018) and any law enacted at a Special Session other than on the subject or subjects designated by the executive's call or message is without authority and void. *State v. Scott*, 105 Utah 31, 140 P. 2d 921.

This court in *State v. Tweed*, 63 Utah 176, 224 P. 443, and *State v. Scott*, 105 Utah 31, 140 P. 2d 921, has held that constitutional provision to have been intended to leave the matter of Special Sessions of the Legislature in the hands of the Governor and to the end that he may have complete control over the "legislative business" that shall be considered.

For purposes of the argument on this point only, we might concede that the Governor permitted an increase in taxes at the state level, for, as we will show, any such tax could only have been a property tax. We do not concede that fact for all purposes, for our argument in Point II hereof attempts to show by accompanying stipulated exhibits that the program recommended by the Governor, the Legislative Council, and the Public School Survey Commission was geared to less state contribution to the state supported school program, and that no state tax was authorized or needed. However, even if it be determined as a basic premise that state support was increased at the Special Session

by bills within the call of the Governor, we believe that the Governor specified only property taxation as a tax to which resort could be had for obtaining the additional funds required, and our argument under this point is designed to show that the prevailing weight and better reasoned authority is that such a tax may be specified without opening up the entire field of taxation.

1. The specification of one form of tax does not permit legislation on all forms or on the general subject of taxation.

One major purpose of provisions of this nature is that notice shall be given to the public that certain subjects are to be considered, thus warning all persons interested to be present if they so desire, so that rights and interests may not be acted upon without notice. 50 Am. Jur., p. 64, Statutes, Sec. 46. *Richmond v. Lay*, 261 Ky. 138, 87 S. W. 2d 134. In that latter case a call was issued to raise revenue for schools, a call substantially broader as pertains to the field of taxation than the call in this case, and at the Session a bill was enacted to require payment of a \$2.00 renewal fee for teachers' certificates and to permit lifetime certificates for teachers having twenty years' service. The \$2.00 fee was approved as being a revenue measure. The life certificate provision was struck down as being without the call.

In *Smith et al. v. Curran*, 268 Mich. 366, 256 N. W. 453, the Governor issued a proclamation permitting legislation to validate bonds previously voted, but having technical deficiencies otherwise. The admitted purpose of the

call was to validate an entire \$360,000,000.00 package of refunding bonds. However, of that package a portion had not been authorized by vote and the case indicates that deficiency could have been cured by the Legislature, it not being a constitutional question. The court held: Those bonds not authorized by a vote of the people were not validated. The call was sufficiently restrictive to permit validation of only voted bonds. Thus we have a situation strikingly parallel to the one here considered. Rights of individuals, i. e., those required to consent by popular vote, could not be invaded without a call sufficiently broad to apprise them of action permitted at the Special Session (Exhibit F, p. 8, para. 5, 6). The court developed in the Curran decision the theory defendants now adopt as to the meaning of the term "subject" or "legislative business". Evolving the rule of Michigan the court held:

"The 'subject' submitted in the message was wholesale validation of bonds. It covered only kinds of bonds which form a logical and natural class for validation separate and distinct from the other classes also covered by Act 31. While the Governor within the range of a 'subject' may not restrict the Legislature, he has the authority to limit the subject according to his conception of the need for legislation. *Thus a proposal for action upon a certain tax would not throw open the whole matter of taxation for legislation or a recommendation as to a crime would not include the entire realm of criminal law*" (Emphasis added).

The functioning of state government may be divided into numerous and heterogeneous subjects: Public welfare, public service, public works, public lands, schools, and tax-

ation, to name only a few. Each of these broad subjects has as many component parts as the sum of its functions, duties, powers, inhibitions, limitations and requirements for support, operation and maintenance. Thus each "subject" of government may be subdivided into molecular components, each of which is logically, distinctly separable from, though related to, all the others. None is wholly unrelated to any other, and by imaginative strain, any infinitesimal part of one subject may be made to relate to any part of almost any other subject. But just as the general subject "animal" may by the addition of qualifying limitations be reduced to the concept "man" and this down to some special race or class or group of men, the consideration of any general subject of state government may be reduced by restricted modification to one of its functions, duties, powers or requirements. *State v. Woollen*, 128 Tenn. 456, 161 S. W. 1006. Thus consideration of any function of government, such as taxation, may be logically restricted as to the field of its operation, the class to be regulated, the group to be affected, and the subject matter to be taxed. In the *Woollen* case (128 Tenn. 456, 161 S. W. 1006) it is held in a well reasoned and much cited decision that the Governor may specify the general subject of appropriations and then, by specifying the institutions to which appropriations are to be made, so restrict the call and the general subject, appropriations, as to exclude appropriation to any and all other institutions and departments.

In *Commonwealth v. Liveright*, 308 Pa. 35, 161 A. 697, an academic discussion and analysis of the cases involved treats the question of whether or not when a general sub-

ject is stated, the specification of a particular matter in connection therewith opens the door for legislation germane to the general subject, but beyond the scope of the specification. *Commonwealth v. Liveright* holds that it *does not*. The court at page 704, 161 Atl. said:

“There are some decisions which go to the extent of holding that when a general subject is mentioned the doors are thrown open to legislation on that subject. *But these authorities appear to be in the minority and are opposed to the well considered opinions of other states*” (Emphasis added).

Cited with approval are the Woollen case (128 Tenn. 456, 161 S. W. 1006) and *Denver & Rio Grande Railway Company v. Moss*, 50 Colo. 282, 115 P. 696.

The Colorado case holds that when the specification is too broad, the result is that *no* subject is constitutional for the reason that the spirit of the constitutional provision limiting the scope of legislation would be emasculated. No notice could be given to interested persons, nor could any restraint be imposed against over-legislation at the taxpayers' expense. 50 Am. Jur., p. 64, Statutes, Sec. 46. In the Liveright case at page 715 of 161 Atl., an illustration is made of the inequities stemming from the broad interpretation and application of a call upon a subject. Although writing a dissenting opinion, this Judge agrees with the majority in its holding that permission to consider a portion of one subject does not permit legislation on the entire subject. In so doing he says:

“For instance, if the Governor designated the subject of ‘taxation’ as one of those to be considered,

then any and every branch of that subject, taxation upon capital stock, taxation upon inheritances, taxation upon moneys and interest, etc. could be made the subject of legislation at the 'special session'

* * * On the other hand if the subject of the tax on capital stock was the only one designated in the proclamation, none of the other branches of the general subject of taxation could constitutionally be passed upon by the Legislature at that whole session. Up to this point also the whole court agrees."

A case almost startlingly in point is *Simms v. Weldon*, 165 Ark. 13, 263 S. W. 42. In that case the Governor issued a call to raise revenues for schools in response to a widespread public demand prompting the Governor to act. The Governor's opening message to the Legislature stated:

"The financial distress of the public schools of the state has compelled me to convene you for the purpose of considering and passing laws for relief."

The Governor included in his call taxation on income, a severance tax and matters regarding collection of gross income taxes. The session passed an act levying a tax on the sale of cigars and cigarettes. The court held the tax invalid, saying:

"The Governor specified presumably all that was in his mind at the time he issued the proclamation and we are not at liberty to go back of that call to determine what purpose the taxation was intended for. The call was to pass an income tax law and the passage of such a law, regardless of the appropriation of the revenues thus raised, would have been within the call, but any other kind of a tax, regardless of the appropriation to any given use was not

within the call. The mental attitude of the Governor as to his intention, not expressed in the proclamation, does not supply the specifications required by the Constitution. The fact that the other taxes represented in the call were earmarked for use by the schools does not broaden the scope of the call, for neither relates to a sales tax on cigarettes and cigars."

That court agreed that the Governor was required to confine legislation to particular subjects, but should not and in some instances may not specify details into which the Legislature may go in dealing with that subject, but held that the purposes of the legislation must be definitely specified either broadly or in detail in the call or the message.

This case has been cited with approval by that jurisdiction in *Hope v. Oliver*, 196 Ark. 394, 117 S. W. 2d 1072. In the *Oliver* case the call provided for the removal of toll fares on bridges. The Legislature passed an act to replace revenues lost by bridge tolls which imposed a fee for auto inspection. It was held that that fee was not within the call. The court admitted the presumption of validity of all acts passed by the Legislature and conceded the argument that the Legislature can, within the scope of the call, decide what is best for the state. It was argued in that case that to keep bridges free from tolls, revenues should be raised to supplant toll revenues. The court said that presumably the Governor considered the loss of revenues and discounted the need for remedial legislation. Otherwise, they said, he would have included the suggestion to raise a revenue to bridge that deficiency.

An Arkansas case (*McCarrell v. Clyde C. L.* 198 Ark. 896, 132 S. W. 2d 19) although holding the act there in question valid, cited the Weldon case as being established law in that state. That latter case did not weaken the holding of the Weldon case. The call was broad: to create a *fund* for tubercular treatment. No specification reduced its all-encompassing character. We agree with this holding.

In *Stocke v. Edwards*, 295 Mo. 402, 244 S. W. 802, the Governor's call recommended that assessors in cities of over 500,000 inhabitants be made elective. An act providing for that election, establishing a new Board of Tax Equalization and defining new duties for both the assessor and the new Board was held *beyond the scope of the call*. The Legislature under that call was not permitted to enact a measure covering a greater number of details and particulars relating to the authority and duties of the assessors although it was permitted to deal with assessors as to the election thereof. That case cited with approval *State ex rel Rice v. Edwards*, . . . Mo. . . ., 241 S. W. 945. There the Governor called for re-districting of cities for the election of Justices of the Peace. The act as passed dealt with both Justices of the Peace and Constables. The manner of dealing with Justices of the Peace was within the call, but the subject of constables was without and the act was voided.

In *State v. Adams*, 323 Mo. 729, 19 S. W. 2d 671, a call to restore capital punishment and fix the method of execution was held not to include the power to permit the jury to decide whether death should or should not be imposed. The court held the intent was to restore capital punishment

and fix the method of sentence and not to deal with who should choose the sentence to be imposed.

In *Wells v. Missouri Pacific Railroad Company*, 110 Mo. 286, 19 S. W. 530, a call authorized the Legislature to pass laws correcting abuses, unjust discrimination and extortion on rates of railroads. An act required safety appliances on railroad switches and abolished the defense of contributory negligence in situations arising therefrom. The court held that the Legislature was called to correct abuses by railroads, but those abuses were spelled out in the form of rates and not general abuses of railroads. Similarly, *Trenton Graded School Districts v. Board of Education*, 278 Ky. 607, 129 S. W. 143 holds that the general subject matter (in this instance schools) can be limited by specifications of what problems may be considered in regard to schools, and an act would be held invalid providing for annexation to school districts under a call to provide approved high school service for all pupils, and to deal with teachers' retirement. *Columbia & Pulaski Turnpike Company v. Hughes*, 174 S. W. 1108, 131 Tenn. 267 held that a call to enact a regulation for turnpikes did not open the session to any type of a road.

All of these cases hold that the specification of a particular, within a general, subject opens the session only for consideration of the particular, not the general, subject. The lesser cannot include the greater, and when the authority is given to deal with a subject only as it relates to revenues for a specific purpose, the original subject cannot be dealt with in a manner designed to change its entire

structure. *In Re Opinion of the Justices*, 94 Colo. 215, 29 P. 2d 705. In that case a call "to provide aid for the destitute and suffering" did not permit the enactment of an elaborate code controlling liquor although a portion of the revenue provided for in that code was earmarked for the purposes enumerated in the call. We cite this case not for its implication that elaborate regulation of smoking could not have here been enacted under the Governor's call, but cite it for its holding, as applied to this case, that the state's tax structure may not be invaded or realigned under the guise of providing some revenues for the purposes in the call.

Exhibit J affirmatively shows that the tax problem had been deferred by the Public School Survey Commission, the Legislative Council and the Governor (Exhibit J, paras. 2, 3, 4, 5 and 6). We show those exhibits not to establish lack of wisdom in the cigarette tax, but to show that it was a legitimately separate, logically distinct subject deemed by all three principals quoted in that Exhibit to be separate and apart from the "school problem" to be remedied at this session.

As said in *Commonwealth v. Liveright*, 161 Atl. at page 403:

"This constitutional provision [limiting the subject matter at special sessions] contemplates that there shall first exist in the executive's mind a definite conception of the public emergency which demands an extraordinary session. His mental attitude or intention is expressed in his proclamation, the purpose of which is to inform the members of the Legislature of subjects for legislation and to advise the public generally that objections may be

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